STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Williamsburg County

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Oct 15 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY ANDERSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001406

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in finding Appellant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his rights against self-incrimination and to counsel where the totality of the circumstances showed Appellant suffered from a traumatic brain injury that resulted in his psychotic disorder and cognitive impairments?

II. Did the trial judge err when he refused to admit a detailed confession by a third person where (1) the defense established the statement was admissible as a statement against penal interest as an exception to the rule against hearsay because the third person was unavailable and the circumstances surrounding the making of the confession corroborated it to establish its trustworthiness and (2) the defense authenticated the confession by showing it was a business record and a public record?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 2011, a Williamsburg County grand jury indicted Appellant for two counts of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime in a single indictment (2011-GS-45-0140). R. 643 – R. 644. On August 5, 2013, Appellant was evaluated for competency. R. 6, ll. 17-19; R. 558. The state, represented by Kimberly V. Barr, called the case for trial before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury on May 12-14, 2014. R. 1. Steven S. McKenzie represented Appellant. R. 1. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 515, ll. 12-22. Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to thirty years imprisonment for each count of murder and to five years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 527, ll. 3-8; R. 645 – R. 647. He ordered the five-year sentence to be served consecutively to the thirty-year sentences. R. 527, ll. 7-8; R. 645 – R. 647. Thereafter, Appellant timely filed new trial. R. 625. On August 7, 2019, Judge Newman convened a hearing on the motion. R. 528. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Newman denied Appellant’s request for a new trial. R. 550, l. 8 – R. 557, l. 5. By an order filed August 16, 2019, Judge Newman formally denied the request. R. 640.

Appellant served his notice of appeal on August 20, 2019. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in finding Appellant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his rights against self-incrimination and to counsel where the totality of the circumstances showed Appellant suffered from a traumatic brain injury that resulted in his psychotic disorder and cognitive impairments.

Standard of review

“On appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a confession will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990); see also State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 43, 503 S.E.2d 747, 751 (1998). Put another way, the reviewing court will reverse a trial judge’s ruling on the voluntariness of the confession when the ruling is “so erroneous as to constitute an abuse of discretion.” State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). “In criminal cases, appellate courts are bound by fact finding in response to preliminary motions where there has been conflicting testimony or where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997).

Relevant facts

In 1995, Appellant was involved in a car accident. R. 11, ll. 1-4. He sustained a severe head injury as a result. R. 11, ll. 1-4. The MRI scan of his brain revealed a contusion and diffuse injury to his frontal lobes. R. 11, ll. 11-14. He was hospitalized for several weeks before he was transferred to a rehabilitation hospital for almost a year. R. 11, ll. 14-18. “[H]e had to learn to walk again, to talk again.” R. 11, ll. 24-25. As a result of the brain injury, Appellant suffered from memory impairment. R. 16, ll. 16-21. Additionally, Appellant had auditory and

visual hallucinations as well as paranoid delusions. R. 17, l. 25 – R. 18, l. 2. In general, he was paranoid around people after he sustained the severe head injury. R. 18, ll. 4-5. More specifically, Appellant “thought that airplanes might be spying on him, ... that people might be trying to mess with his food.” R. 18, ll. 20-22. In relation to the competency evaluation, Dr. Richard Frierson diagnosed Appellant with a psychotic disorder due to his traumatic brain injury. R. 18, ll. 17-19. Further, Dr. Frierson diagnosed Appellant with depressive disorder due to traumatic brain injury and noted that he had been treated in the past for “periods of depression, depressed mood, feeling sad, low energy, troubles with sleeping, appetite.” R. 19, ll. 1-7. In light of Appellant’s memory problems and cognitive decline since the head injury, Dr. Frierson diagnosed him with a cognitive disorder not otherwise specified. R. 19, ll. 9-12.

Dr. Frierson explained that Appellant suffered damage to his frontal lobe, which is the area of the brain that modulates emotions, enables individuals to plan and sequence behavior, and controls the higher functioning of cognition. R. 31, ll. 1-10. Although Dr. Frierson ultimately determined Appellant was competent, he concluded Appellant lacked the capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. R. 19, l. 23 – R. 20, l. 3; Supp. R. 4, ll. 11-13.

On June 5, 2011, Neil Frebowitz with the Horry County Police Department interrogated Appellant. R. 40, ll. 2-14; State’s Exhibit #52. Frebowitz advised Appellant of his rights. R. 41, l. 8 – R. 42, l. 19; R. 605; State’s Exhibit #52. Frebowitz candidly admitted that although the advisement of rights form included checkmarks denoting an understanding of the rights and a desire to waive those rights, he was uncertain whether he or Appellant placed the checkmarks on the form. R. 47, l. 22 – R. 48, l. 2. Further, Frebowitz was forced to admit that prior to interrogating Appellant, he spoke to Appellant’s mother who informed him that Appellant

suffered a severe brain injury in 1995 and took medication related to the brain injury. R. 48, l. 13 – R. 50, l. 4. Appellant’s mother informed Frebowitz that Appellant was delusional when he arrived at her home, shortly before he was arrested and interrogated. R. 50, ll. 5-9. On this point, Appellant’s mother provided Frebowitz with a bag full of medications for Appellant. R. 50, l. 10 – R. 51, l. 20. One of the medications was Risperdal, which Frebowitz knew was on an antipsychotic. R. 51, ll. 10-24.

Prior to trial, defense counsel filed a motion to suppress Appellant’s statement to law enforcement. R. 615. The recording of the statement showed Frebowitz’s interrogation consisted almost entirely of leading questions. State’s Exhibit #52. For example, when discussing the gun, Frebowitz asked Appellant if the uncle had the gun or if it were some place in the house. State’s Exhibit #52. Appellant chose the latter response. State’s Exhibit #52. Aware that Appellant believed his grandmother had an insurance policy on him, but was refusing to provide him with details about it, Frebowitz asked Appellant if he “got more angry or something.” State’s Exhibit #52. Appellant simply agreed. State’s Exhibit #52.

Appellant’s statement was replete with references to his delusion regarding the insurance policy. State’s Exhibit #52. Further, Appellant’s statement jumped across topics, including his brief discussion of his marriage. State’s Exhibit #52. During the interrogation, Appellant showed he was unaware of the repercussions of his waiver of his rights when he sought counseling for the crimes. State’s Exhibit #52.

When the trial judge called Dr. Frierson as a witness, Dr. Frierson expressed no opinion regarding whether Appellant had the ability to understand the advisement of rights from Frebowitz. R. 85, ll. 7-13. Dr. Frierson conceded that it appeared from the transcript of the interrogation that Appellant appeared to understand the questions and giving answers to the

questions. R. 86, ll. 21-23. Yet, Dr. Frierson agreed that Appellant's interrogation included paranoia. R. 89, ll. 7-14.

At the conclusion of the hearing, defense counsel moved to exclude Appellant's statement based upon the totality of the circumstances, including his inability to knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his rights due to his traumatic brain injury and resulting mental illness and diminished cognitive abilities. R. 79, l. 16 – R. 83, l. 9. Counsel emphasized that Frebowitz was aware of Appellant's delusional disorder, including his prescribed medicine to treat psychosis. R. 79, l. 16 – R. 83, l. 9. Citing *United States v. Cristobal*, 293 F.3d 134 (4th Cir. 2002), counsel argued that because Frebowitz was aware of Appellant's mental health status, he was required to take extra precautions to ensure Appellant understood his rights, but he failed to do so. R. 79, l. 16 – R. 83, l. 9.

Ultimately, the trial judge found Appellant understood the rights that were explained to him and he wished to waive them. R. 90, ll. 11-18. The judge concluded Appellant's statement showed he "clearly understood all questions" and "gave appropriate responses such that he was communicating meaningfully with the officer." R. 90, ll. 18-22. While the judge thought there was "always a question" as to whether a person "had the mental ability to understand the implications" of an advisement of rights. R. 90, ll. 22-25. The judge noted that he did not find the medical testimony to be of much help in assessing whether Appellant understood his rights and the implication of waiving those rights. R. 90, l. 25 – R. 91, l. 2. The judge found that Appellant "sufficiently understood" the nature of the advisement of rights. R. 91, ll. 10-14. He further found Appellant made a free and voluntary statement. R. 91, ll. 14-19.

Discussion

In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court held that “a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession.” To introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 426 (1966). State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 694 (1996); State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007); State v. Compton, 366 S.C. 671, 680, 623 S.E.2d 661, 666 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Crawley, 349 S.C. 459, 463, 562 S.E.2d 683, 685 (Ct. App. 2002).

It is not enough that the interrogator advised the suspect of his rights and the suspect made an uncoerced statement. The prosecution must show that the accused understood the rights. Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 384 (2010) (citing Colorado v. Spring, 479 U.S. 564, 573-575 (1987); Connecticut v. Barrett, 479 U.S. 523, 530 (1987)). Thus, “[t]he waiver inquiry ‘has two distinct dimensions’: waiver must be ‘voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception,’ and ‘made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.’” Id. at 382-383 (quoting Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 421, 421 (1986)).

In South Carolina, a court must examine the totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement. The examining court must answer the question: did totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement defeat the defendant’s will? State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2010).

Courts have recognized appropriate factors that may be considered in a totality of the circumstances analysis: background; experience; conduct of the accused; age; maturity; physical condition and mental health; length of custody or detention; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights; threats of violence; direct or indirect promises, however slight; lack of education or low intelligence; repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning; exertion of improper influence; and the use of physical punishment, such as the deprivation of food or sleep.

Id. at 513-514, 702 S.E.2d at 401 (internal citations omitted). The test requires consideration of “totality of all the surrounding circumstances – both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the interrogation.” Dickerson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 434 (2000) (citations omitted).

Consideration of a person’s mental capacity is an important factor in determining whether a statement to police was voluntary. State v. Callahan, 263 S.C. 35, 41, 208 S.E.2d 284, 286 (1974) (citing State v. Cain, 246 S.C. 536, 144 S.E.2d 905 (1965)).

[A] person’s capacity to make an informed waiver requires three abilities: an understanding of the words and phrases contained within the warnings, an accurate perception of their intended functions (e.g., that interrogation is adversarial, that an attorney is an advocate, that these rights trump police powers), and a capacity to reason about the likely consequences of the decision to waive or invoke these rights.

Saul M. Kassin, The Psychology of Confessions, 4 Ann. Rev. L. & Soc. Sci. 193, 199 (2008).

Cognitive impairment

In State v. Davis, 309 S.C. 326, 422 S.E.2d 133 (1992), overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that although Davis suffered from mild mental retardation with an IQ of 66, he had the capacity to make a knowing waiver of his constitutional rights to silence and counsel. After Davis’s arrest, an officer read the standard Miranda warnings to Davis from a card. The officer testified he “read slowly, paused after each sentence, looked at Davis, and asked him to verbally indicate whether he understood what had been read to him.” Davis responded affirmatively that he understood each of

his rights. When asked if he wanted a lawyer present, Davis stated he did not need a lawyer. The officer also “explained” that Davis could end the interrogation at any time. Davis indicated he understood this and agreed to give a taped statement. Due to a problem with the audio equipment, the officer asked Davis for a second statement. Again, the officers explained to Davis his constitutional rights and Davis waived those rights and provided a statement. Id. at 336, 422 S.E.2d at 140.

A forensic psychiatrist testified that he interviewed Davis in detail regarding his understanding each of the rights afforded to him pursuant to Miranda. Id. at 336-337, 422 S.E.2d at 140. The psychiatrist admitted Davis’s understanding “would be on a different, less abstract, level from a person of average intelligence, but Davis’s comprehension was adequate to enable Davis to knowingly and intelligently waive those rights.” On the other hand, Davis presented experts who testified he lacked the mental ability to understand the implications of Miranda. Id. at 337, 422 S.E.2d at 140. The Supreme Court held “there was sufficient evidence on the record, both lay and expert, to support the trial judge’s determination that Davis was competent to waive his Miranda rights.” Id.

In striking contrast to the instant matter, the officers in State v. Jennings, 280 S.C. 62, 63-64, 309 S.E.2d 759, 760 (1983) were aware of the defendant’s low intellectual functioning and exercised caution to be sure he understood their communications with him. Based upon law enforcement’s careful questioning and the remaining circumstances, the Court found Jennings’s statement was admissible. Jennings, 280 S.C. at 63-64, 309 S.E.2d at 760.

Numerous courts throughout the country have found statements to police inadmissible where the defendants lacked the ability to understand their rights and the implications of waiving such rights. In State v. Flower, 539 A.2d 1284 (N.J. Super. L. 1987), the New Jersey court found a

defendant's statement was inadmissible based on the testimony of three teachers who taught the defendant seven years earlier. The teachers testified the defendant had a second or third grade level vocabulary and required instructions in very basic terms. Due to his low level of functioning, he was unable to grasp abstract concepts. The teachers opined that he would not understand his Miranda rights even if explained to him.

Similarly, a psychiatrist and a psychologist testified that the defendant had a mental age of ten or eleven, required instructions to be given in a very slow and deliberate manner, and would not have been able to understand his rights unless they were very carefully explained to him. State v. Rossiter, 623 N.E.2d 645 (Ohio Ct. App. 1993). The defendant would do what he perceived an authority figure wanted him to do. Id. The court held the statement was inadmissible because the warnings had not been given slowly and carefully enough or with any consideration of the defendant's intellectual functioning, thereby preventing the defendant from making a knowing waiver. Id. A court found a defendant's statement inadmissible because she lacked the ability to comprehend her rights where she suffered from mild mental retardation and she functioned on the equivalent of an eight-year old child. People v. Daniels, 908 N.E.2d 1104 (Ill. App. 2009). Although the defendant understood some of his rights and he was the manager of a local restaurant, a trial court properly excluded a statement by a mentally impaired individual, whose IQ was 71, where the expert testified the individual suffered from depression, which would affect his IQ. Albarran v. State, 96 So. 3d 131 (Ala. Crim. App. 2011).

The Tennessee Supreme Court held a defendant did not knowingly and intelligently waive his rights before police interrogation, even though he appeared to understand his rights and was later found competent to stand trial because evidence showed that he was mentally retarded, with an IQ of 55, and functioned on the level of a child from six to nine years old. State v. Blackstock, 19

S.W.3d 200 (Tenn. 2000). In another case, the District Court for the Middle District of Alabama found a defendant's waiver of Miranda was not knowingly and intelligently given. United States v. Jennings, 491 F.Supp.2d 1072 (M.D. Ala. 2007). The defendant presented expert testimony that at the time of the interrogation, he did not understand the Miranda warnings. Id. at 1077-1078. The prosecution presented no evidence, "certainly no expert evidence," contrary to the defense expert. Id. at 1078.

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held a defendant's confession was inadmissible based upon the totality of the circumstances, which included the defendant's intellectual disability. United States v. Preston, 751 F.3d 1008 (9th Cir. 2014). Two officers questioned the defendant outside his home for forty minutes. Id. at 1012. Shortly into the interrogation, the officers realized the defendant was mentally disabled, but continued the questioning anyway. Id. When the officers told the defendant they were investigating a crime occurring on a particular day, the defendant told the officers he was not in the area on that day. The officers rejected the defendant's contention repeatedly. Eventually, the defendant agreed. Id. The officers then set up two categories of people who commit sexual offenses, which was the type of crime being investigated, and asked the defendant what type of person he was. Id. at 1013. Despite the defendant's protestations that he was innocent, he eventually told the officers he had committed the acts. Id.

The officers told the defendant that they would return to question him until he told them what happened. Id. Twenty minutes into the interrogation, the defendant stated he was at home on the day in question. Then, the officers asked the defendant questions with two alternative answers – one less incriminating. The defendant chose the less incriminating answer each time. Id. at 1013-1014. At the end of the interrogation, the defendant signed a confession. Id. at 1014. Citing Miller v. Fenton, 474 U.S. 104, 110 (1985), the Ninth Circuit explained "the voluntariness inquiry 'is not

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