**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Williamsburg County
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge**

RECEIVED

Oct 13 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY ANDERSON,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2019-001406.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Discussion

““Only if the totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation reveal both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of comprehension may a court properly conclude that the *Miranda* rights have been waived.”” *United States v. Cristobal*, 293 F.3d 134, 140 (4th Cir. 2002) (quoting *Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. 412, 421, 106 S.Ct. 1135, 1141 (1986)). Here, competent evidence received at the *Denno* hearing demonstrates Anderson was capable of

making a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary *Miranda* waiver, and did so.

Speaking first to voluntariness, the circumstances of the waiver do not support a finding that Anderson's will was overborne. "[W]hile mental condition is surely relevant to an individual's susceptibility to police coercion, mere examination of the confessant's state of mind can never conclude the due process inquiry." *Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 165, 107 S.Ct. 515, 520-21 (1986). Instead, the court "must ultimately focus on the actions of the law enforcement officials to determine if police overreaching occurred in this case." *United States v. Cristobal*, 293 F.3d at 141; compare *Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. at 398-402, 98 S.Ct. at 2416-18 (confession involuntary where "barely conscious" suspect, "depressed almost to the point of coma," and giving unresponsive answers, expressed on numerous occasions that he did not wish to be questioned without a lawyer). "[D]eficient mental condition (whether the result of a pre-existing mental illness or, for example, pain killing narcotics administered after emergency treatment) is not, without more, enough to render a waiver involuntary." *Cristobal*, 293 F.3d at 141.

Here, only Anderson and Frebowitz were present in the interview room. (R. p. 566 Court's Ex. 2, p. 2, line 23 – p. 3, line 11). Frebowitz described the interview room as "relatively comfortable," with padded chairs. (R. p. 43, lines 19-23). From the outset, Frebowitz ensured Anderson was offered his medication and a drink. (R. p. 566 Court's Ex. 2, p. 2, lines 3-17). Without pressure or coercion, Frebowitz Mirandized Anderson and asked him if he understood. (R. p. 566 Court's Ex. 2, p. 2, line 21 – p. 3, line 18; see also State's Ex. 52). While not alone dispositive, Anderson checked "yes" twice and both printed and signed his name on the advisement of rights form. (R. p. 605 Court's Ex. 4). Thereafter, Frebowitz did not subject Anderson to continuous or unrelenting questioning. More, Anderson did not provide only "yes"

and “yeah” responses. The interview reads like a conversation, with Anderson at all times engaging in appropriate and meaningful responses to Frebowitz’s inquiries—whether they pertained to the reason for the interview or to miscellaneous matters. (R. p. 566 Court’s Ex. 2). Frebowitz took time to ask Anderson if he felt he had been treated nicely. He let Anderson know he planned to address any perceived threats or unfairness Anderson reported. Anderson denied receiving any threats or unfair treatment. (R. p 566 Court’s Ex. 2, p. 28, line 18 – p. 29, line 14). Objectively, the environment in which Anderson made his *Miranda* waiver cannot be found coercive.

As to Anderson’s ability to make a knowing and intelligent waiver, competent evidence establishes Anderson had “a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.” *State v. Moses*, 390 S.C. at 513, 702 S.E.2d at 401 (2010). Testimony from a neutral expert, Dr. Richard Frierson, supports the trial court’s finding that Anderson had the requisite level of comprehension. His review of Anderson’s statement led him to testify that “on a mental status,” Anderson “appear[ed] to understand the questions and giving answers to the questions.” (R. p. 86, lines 21-23). While Dr. Frierson opined “some of the thoughts [Anderson] presented during his statement are consistent with delusional thinking,” he testified that Anderson had been evaluated competent while consistently taking his medication, and Anderson “was supposed to be on medication at the time he made that statement.” (R. p. 87, lines 6-9; Rr. p. 88, lines 17-25). Anderson’s mother, Joani Burroughs, testified she administered Anderson his medication prior to officers’ arrival at her home. (R. p. 67, lines 5-15; R. p. 68, lines 1-4). In his interview, Anderson said he “didn’t take it that morning” before the shooting, but that he did take it “that night.” (Court’s Ex. 2, p. 582, line 24 –

p. 583, line 2). Additionally, Dr. Frierson testified during the *Blair*⁴ hearing that Anderson had no history of mental health hospitalizations. (R. p. 11, line 1 – p. 15, line 1).

But again, “[a] defendant’s mental condition in and of itself does not render a statement involuntary in violation of due process.” *State v. Hughes*, 336 S.C. at 594, 521 S.E.2d at 505. When the totality of the circumstances indicate the making of a knowing and voluntary statement, a mental health’s expert inability to opine as to a defendant’s competency at the time he waived his *Miranda* rights does not render the resulting statement inadmissible. *Rychtarik v. State*, 334 Ark. 492, 496-98, 976 S.W.2d 374, 376-77 (Ark. 1998) (mental health experts examined appellant for competency to stand trial, found he “suffered “from amphetamine-induced psychotic disorder with delusions,” but did not evaluate him for purposes of opining “whether appellant was competent to waive his *Miranda* rights at the time of his confession”). Standing alone, a diagnosed psychiatric disorder is not enough to render a statement inadmissible, so long as the diagnoses are “not so severe as to interfere with his ability to comprehend instruction and advice [and] make decisions.” *State v. DeAngelis*, 200 Conn. 224, 234–35, 511 A.2d 310, 317 (Conn. 1986) (statement not rendered involuntary where competency evaluation concluded appellant suffered from a psychiatric disorder and “some cognitive impairment secondary to low intelligence and residual thought disorder”).

By a preponderance of the evidence, the State established that Anderson was capable of understanding and intelligently deciding to waive his *Miranda* rights. From the outset, Anderson established he was alert to person, place and time, affirming the date to Frebowitz. (R. p. 566 Court’s Ex. 2, p. 4, lines 1-4). The advisement of rights denoted Anderson’s *Miranda* rights in four succinct, plain-language statements. (R. p. 605 Court’s Ex. 4). After printing and signing the

⁴ *State v. Blair*, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981).

form, Anderson provided lucid answers, explaining what happened before, during, and after the shooting, and what motivated it. (R. p. 566 Court's Ex. 2, p. 5, line 13 – p. 13, line 24).

More crucially, Anderson indicated he knew he was in significant trouble. He told Frebowitz that he “messed” his “life up” and made “a big” mistake. (R. p. 566 Court's Ex. 2, p. 16, line 19 – p. 17, line 7). Later, Anderson volunteered to Frebowitz “that’s two murder charges,” therein indicating full awareness of the consequences of his actions and the reason for the interview. (R. p. 566 Court's Ex. 2, p. 23, lines 14-20). Even earlier, Anderson specifically stated: “I know I’m going to get some time.” (R. 566 Court's Ex. 2, p. 18, line 4). When Frebowitz asked if Anderson “knew the difference between right and wrong” and “got mad,” Anderson agreed with him. (R. p. 566 Court's Ex. 2, p. 2, lines 21-25). Though Burroughs testified she did not believe her son when he showed up at her house and told her “I killed them, call the police,” (R. p. 72, line 2 – p. 73, line 17), her testimony does not foreclose the veracity of Anderson’s statements. As Dr. Frierson had earlier testified, Anderson conducted a series of conscious acts indicating he had the capacity to understand the gravity of the situation: he fled the scene, disposed of the weapon, and told his mother to call the police. (R. p. 223, line 18 – p. 224, line 20).

Frebowitz, an experienced investigator, had the impression that Anderson was “aware of his surroundings, aware of what his mental issues were” and answered the questions “in a clear, concise, and appropriate manner.” (R. p. 60, lines 1-8). As a result, he “found no reason to believe he didn’t understand” the consequences of the waiver. (R. p. 61, lines 9-14). Anderson did not exhibit irrational behavior during his interactions with Frebowitz. *See Palmer v. State*, 277 Ga. 124, 125, 587 S.E.2d 1, 2 (Ga. 2003) (statement voluntary where appellant “testified that he had been taking his medication throughout the time period in question, and [his] expert

testified that [his] illness was controlled by that medication”); *Stanton v. Com.*, 349 S.W.3d 914, 920-21 (Ky. 2011) (no abuse of discretion in admitting statement where investigators did not “exploit Stanton’s bipolar disorder and his low intelligence . . . or that those limitations prevented Stanton from understanding the situation”); *Michael v. Com.*, No. 2012-SC-000097-MR, 2013 WL 1188052, at *5 (Ky. Mar. 21, 2013) (statement admissible where appellant “exhibited calm and rational behavior throughout both interrogations” and was not exploited by law enforcement, despite post-arrest diagnosis with major depressive disorder with psychotic features, and despite not sleeping and consuming wine the night before the interview) (unpublished) (citing *Stanton, supra*). Given the coherence of his responses to Frebowitz, the totality of the circumstances fail to establish that Anderson’s mental impairments superseded the knowing, voluntary, and intelligent nature of the statement.

Finally, any error in the trial court’s introduction of Anderson’s statement should be found harmless, as voluntariness is the only reasonable inference to be drawn from evidence regarding Anderson’s confession. *See State v. Salisbury*, 330 S.C. 250, 272, 498 S.E.2d 655, 666 (Ct. App. 1998), *aff’d as modified*, 343 S.C. 520, 541 S.E.2d 247 (2001) (harmless error applies when the only reasonable inference is that the statement was voluntarily given). Though not introduced at the *Denno* hearing, the recorded statement establishes Anderson delivered calm, coherent, rational, and independent responses for the duration of interview. Anderson appeared uncoerced and able to comprehend each stage of his conversation with Frebowitz, including the consequences. Neither party to the interview exercised more influence over the other during the conversation. (State’s Ex. 52).

Furthermore, any error is harmless under the standard established in *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824 (1967), where “considering the entire record on appeal, the

reviewing court finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict.” *State v. Creech*, 314 S.C. 76, 86, 441 S.E.2d 635, 640 (Ct. App. 1993); *State v. Easler*, 327 S.C. at 129, 489 S.E.2d at 621-22 (applying harmless error to improperly admitted statement). Other competent, succinct evidence established Anderson’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Anderson’s family knew he and his uncle Theward McCray “weren’t getting along that good.” (R. p. 349, lines 14-24). His sister testified she frequently had to calm him down from a “panic state,” and that others “around him tended to take advantage of him.” (R. p. 434, line 6 – p. 438, line 5). Approximately three weeks prior to the shooting, Anderson told his Aunt Evans he was “gonna kill” Theward “one day,” and would not be “leaving any witnesses. (R. p. 345, lines 11-25; R. p. 346, lines 7-10). The day of the shooting, Anderson called his sister “expressing concern about not feeling loved and thinking that someone was trying to kill him” (R. p. 442, lines 10-15). She described it as a “typical” call during which she would calm him down from one of “his moments.” (R. p. 442, lines 15-19). Upon examination, Theward had particles consistent with gunshot residue on the backs of each hand and on his left palm, indicating he was in a “defensive posture” at the time of the shooting. (R. p. 256, line 16 – p. 257, line 4; R. p. 264, lines 1-11). Theward survived Anderson’s attack to call 911 and tell the operator that his “nephew killed [him] and [his] momma.” (State’s Ex. 1, Track 1). He can be heard naming “Anthony Anders--.” (State’s Ex. 1, Track 4 at 0:29-0:33). Then he repeated the name “Anthony” to the responding officer. (R. p. 120, line 3; R. p. 134, line 3).

II. Anderson’s proffered third party confession from an unavailable declarant lacked the corroborating evidence required for admission, as Anderson provided no other evidence to clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the hearsay statement.

Generally, a party may not introduce hearsay, which is an out-of-court statement “offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. “Hearsay is inadmissible unless the statement is of a type specifically excepted from the rule.” *State v. Holmes*, 342 S.C. 113, 116, 536 S.E.2d 671, 672 (2000). Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE provides an exception for statements made by an unavailable declarant made against his penal interest and offered to exculpate the criminal defendant.

“To bring the evidence within this exception, [the] [d]efendant must show that the proffered statements were made by an unavailable declarant, that the statements exposed the declarant to criminal liability, and that corroborating circumstances clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statements.” *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 323, 540 S.E.2d 464, 465-66 (2000); *State v. Doctor*, 306 S.C. 527, 529, 413 S.E.2d 36, 38 (1992). A declarant is unavailable when absent from trial and the party seeking to introduce and the statement has been unable to procure the declarant “by process or other reasonable means.” Rule 804(a)(5), SCRE.

“Whether a statement has been sufficiently corroborated is a question left to the discretion of the trial judge after considering the totality of the circumstances under which a declaration against penal interest was made.” *State v. Wannamaker*, 346 S.C. 495, 501, 552 S.E.2d 284, 287 (2001) (internal quotations omitted). The proponent of the statement carries the “formidable burden” of “clearly corroborating the making of the statement.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Kinloch*, 338 S.C. 385, 388, 526 S.E.2d 705, 706 (2000); *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 342-43, 748 S.E.2d 194, 207 (2013)). This does not mean that the statement must be clearly corroborated

in a manner establishing its truth. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. at 324, 540 S.E.2d at 466. However, it is often “not possible to separate” the making of the statement from circumstances indicating its truth. *Id.* “As a practical matter the two inquiries are related, ordinarily requiring the trial court to examine the content of the statements as part of its analysis of the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* at n.5, 540 S.E.2d at 466, n.5.

“This entails a searching examination of both content and context.” *State v. Young*, 420 S.C. 608, 619, 803 S.E.2d 888, 894 (Ct. App. 2017). Our courts “interpret the rule allowing statements against penal interest stringently,” emphasizing the rule is to be applied “very narrowly to only those portions of a hearsay statement which are plainly self-inculpatory.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Holmes*, 342 S.C. at 117, 536 S.E.2d at 673). At the end of the inquiry, “[e]xculpatory evidence that is not corroborated with other evidence that clearly shows its trustworthiness is excluded.” *State v. Staten*, 364 S.C. 7, 38, 610 S.E.2d 823, 839 (Ct. App. 2005), *vacated in part*, 374 S.C. 9, 647 S.E.2d 207 (2007).

The Ruling Below

During the State’s case, Anderson informed the court of his intent to introduce a statement from “a defendant in New York,” as exculpatory evidence indicating that third party’s guilt. Anderson also moved for the state to compel the third party’s attendance at trial. (R. p. 137, lines 1-22). In the alternative, Anderson moved to introduce the statement as one made against the declarant’s penal interest and with sufficient corroboration for introduction as an exception to the rule against hearsay. (R. p. 141, line 6 – p. 142, line 21; R. p. 419, lines 10-12).

The trial court initially noted the third party’s statement appeared “to be something close to wild speculation that attempts to come close to what occurred in this case, but is not on point,” and not exculpatory. (R. p. 138, line 21 – p. 139, line 6; R. p. 140, lines 3-10). Because the

statement had been discredited by law enforcement's investigation, the court denied the motion to compel the third party's attendance. (R. p. 137, line 24 – p. 139, line 12). The court deferred ruling upon any motion to introduce the statement as an exception to the rule against hearsay until such time as Anderson sought to introduce it during his own case-in-chief. (R. p. 142, line 23 – p. 143, line 10).

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